NINTEDANIB: A NEW HOPE FOR PATIENTS WITH SYSTEMIC SCLEROSIS-ASSOCIATED INTERSTITIAL LUNG DISEASE

by

YESSICA ROLDAN

A THESIS

Presented to the Department of Human Physiology and the Robert D. Clark Honors College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Science

Spring 2023

An Abstract of the Thesis of

Yessica Roldan for the degree of Bachelor of Science in the Department of Human Physiology to be taken Spring 2023

Title: Nintedanib: A New Hope for Patients with Systemic Sclerosis-Associated Interstitial Lung Disease

> Approved: <u>Dr. Grace Golden</u> Primary Thesis Advisor

Scleroderma, or systemic sclerosis, is a rare autoimmune disease group that causes hardening and tightening of the skin. Systemic diffuse scleroderma is a subtype that can also damage internal organs. Systemic sclerosis-associated interstitial lung disease (SSc-ILD) is a condition in which the interstitial lung tissue becomes inflamed and undergoes irreversible fibrosis and is the leading cause of death for patients with diffuse scleroderma. Its progression is generally measured by the decline in forced vital capacity. Nintedanib (NIN) is a promising antifibrotic treatment that is FDA approved to treat SSc-ILD. This is a literature review in which three studies were selected to investigate the effectiveness and safety of NIN in comparison to an impactful precursor study. The selected studies indicate that NIN is associated with diminished lung progression and potentially reduces lung attenuation. NIN is an effective and safe treatment that can improve a SSc-ILD patient's quality of life and extend their lifespan.

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my primary thesis advisor Dr. Grace Golden for her guidance and patience throughout this process. I am eternally grateful for everything she has taught me, and I will continue to use these skills in the future. I would also like to thank Dr. Carol Paty and Dr. Daphne Gallagher for helping me start this journey. Their assistance along the way gave me the confidence to follow my aspirations. I would also like to thank my family for their unconditional support throughout my college and thesis journey. I would not be here without their love and encouragement. Dad, thank you for supporting my dreams and I will never forget the sacrifices you made for my future. Mom, thank you for being the inspiration for my thesis; I hope I made you proud. Finally, I would like to thank my friends for giving me a shoulder to lean on and uplifting me when the journey felt too difficult. I would not have been as resilient without them and will always appreciate their support.

Table of Contents

Introduction	5
Scleroderma	5
Symptoms of diffuse scleroderma	7
Interstitial lung disease	8
Invasive treatments of ILD	9
Immunomodulatory agent treatments	10
Biologic drug treatments	10
Anti-fibrotic treatments	11
Nintedanib	12
Research question and methods	13
Results	14
Study Selection	14
Forced vital capacity	15
Secondary factors	15
Adverse effects	17
Discussion	18
Conclusion	20
References	22

Introduction

Scleroderma

Scleroderma, also known as systemic sclerosis, is a group of rare autoimmune diseases that share a common symptom: hardening and tightening of the skin. Within the United States, there around 276-300 cases per million and the most common demographic are adults assigned female at birth.¹ The severity of this disease increases among African and Native Americans, with a worsening prognosis if they are over the age of 45.¹ In 2013, Gelber et al.² reported African American patients had a higher (43%) cumulative incidence of mortality compared to white patients (35%) after 10 years. Although there are no clear genetic predispositions, investigators have seen higher prevalence of scleroderma within first degree relatives; with the majority of genetic factors falling into genes controlling inflammation and autoimmunity.^{3,4} This disease unfolds as an "excessive deposition of collagen" causing issues such as microvascular damage.⁵ Scleroderma is a chronic illness and difficult to diagnose due to the variety of symptoms. As a result of the various manifestations of the disease, there are two clear divisions: localized and systemic.

Localized scleroderma is a category in which the disease only affects the skin and the relatively superficial layers of fat, muscle, and fascia.⁶ Patients will present with discolored patches of skin. Within this category there are various manifestations associated with the descriptive term morphea. Circumscribed morphea is associated with only a few patches of discoloration.⁶ Generalized morphea involves various patches that affect multiple anatomical regions.⁶ Linear scleroderma is more common in children and presents as bands of discoloration on extremities or other regions.⁶ Patients with localized scleroderma are less often associated with increased mortality rates due the advancement of treatments.⁷ These symptoms can go away

on their own, however, a small percentage of these patients will progress from localized to systemic scleroderma.

Systemic scleroderma (SS) is a more severe development of the disease not only affecting the skin but also damaging internal organs and blood vessels. There are three main types of SS: limited, sine, and diffuse. Limited scleroderma is the most common type and characterized with hardening of the skin around the distal extremities and the face.¹ If it becomes more internalized, limited SS will affect the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, cause musculoskeletal pain, and the patient will present with severe Raynaud's phenomenon (RP). This phenomenon entails the constriction of blood vessels within the fingers, which will become pale, when the patient is exposed to a cold temperature.⁸ It is recommended to monitor the disease's progression to determine if it is becoming more aggressive. Those with sine sclerosis have systemic organ disease and RP yet do not experience any skin thickening. Out of all the types of SS, diffuse scleroderma is the most dangerous subtype due to the significant organ damage it can cause throughout the body. Diffuse scleroderma will also harden the skin of proximal extremities and the trunk. There are individuals that will not develop systemic organ disease, however, it will most likely begin affecting organs within three years of its onset.¹ Diagnosing a patient with diffuse scleroderma can be challenging since there are many symptoms and a variety of scleroderma subtypes; even so, early detection is essential to manage the internal organ involvement.⁷ At this stage of the disease progression, the only path to follow is to alleviate the numerous symptoms and to frequently monitor various internal organs to prevent any detrimental progression.

Symptoms of diffuse scleroderma

Raynaud's phenomenon (RP) is often the first symptom that presents in patients with systemic scleroderma, even before any visible skin thickening. When the patient is exposed to the cold or is distressed, their fingers will become pale due to the constriction of peripheral blood vessels.⁸ However, those with diffuse scleroderma will experience RP either at the same time or shortly after their skin begins to thicken.⁷ If this symptom worsens, it can cause ulcers at the fingertips and overall loss of tissue.⁷ Additionally, disability within diffuse scleroderma is caused by the progression of musculoskeletal disease. This process will "entrap joints and tendons", causing a multitude of issues such as pain and weakness.¹ For many of these patients GI disease, such as esophageal dysfunction, causes poor quality of life (QOL) due to GI reflux disease and further damage the esophagus.¹

Scleroderma patients are susceptible to heart disease, which is fatal if not noticed in its beginning stages. The poor prognosis is related to various silent clinical signs such as pericardial effusion, the accumulation of fluid in the pericardium, and valvular disease.⁹ If scleroderma manifests within the kidneys, there is a possibility that it will develop into scleroderma renal crisis (SRC). This medical emergency is caused by "malignant hypertension and progressive renal failure" and is developed in about 10% of patients.¹⁰ Pulmonary diseases, comprised of pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) and interstitial lung disease (ILD), have become the main cause of death within diffuse scleroderma, now surpassing SRC.¹¹ Between both of these diseases, systemic sclerosis-associated ILD (SSc-ILD) has the higher mortality rate of 33% and requires further investigation.¹²

Interstitial lung disease

Approximately 50% of patients with diffuse scleroderma will develop ILD at the five year mark from diagnosis.¹² The longer a patient with SSc-ILD goes undiagnosed, the worse their prognosis becomes. In order to diagnose a patient noninvasively with SSc-ILD, high-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) imaging is necessary.¹³ If this imaging demonstrates a pattern of nonspecific interstitial pneumonitis (NSIP) or the less common usual interstitial pneumonitis (UIP) pattern, SSc-ILD is diagnosed.^{13,14} NSIP is an autoimmune-associated disorder causing inflammation of the alveolar (air sacs) walls that will eventually lead to permanent scars.¹⁵ UIP also causes progressive scarring within the pulmonary interstitium and is a defining characteristic of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis but can be seen in ILD.¹⁶ Both present patterns of chronic fibrosis in HRCT imaging.

To create the most effective intervention and prevention of SSc-ILD progression, it is essential to have patients undergo frequent testing.¹² There are two preferred methods to measure their pulmonary function; the first being forced vital capacity (FVC).¹² This measurement is based on the maximum amount of air the patient can expel after inhaling deeply.¹⁷ Once there is a decline of $\geq 10\%$ from the patient's baseline, it is considered as progression of ILD.¹³ The second test is diffusion lung capacity for carbon monoxide (DLCO), which is the measurement of the capacity that patient's lungs have to transfer inspired CO into the bloodstream.^{12,18} A 5-9% decline in FVC and a $\geq 15\%$ decline in DLCO is indicative of progression.¹³ This disease has complicated mechanisms that result in the progression of inflammation and the irreversible fibrosis of lung tissue.¹² Treatments for SSc-ILD center around the disease's advancement and its various theoretical mechanisms; yet they can only slow its progression.

Invasive treatments of ILD

Currently investigators consider two invasive treatments for SSc-ILD: autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (AHSCT) and lung transplantation (LTx).¹⁹ Both treatments are limited and have multiple requirements, therefore are considered as a last resort. The first treatment involves a three step process that begins with the collection of mobilized stem cells, continues with the administration of immunoablative or myeloablative regimens, and ends with the infusion of the proper autologous stem cells.²⁰ Immunoablation is the overall destruction a patient's immune resistance.²⁰ AHSCT trials have been reported to not only stabilize internal organ function but also improve skin thickening.²⁰ While it is more effective than other immunosuppressive therapies in terms of long-term survival, there is risk for fatal infections due to the aggressiveness of the treatment.²⁰ The selection and monitoring of patients needs to be conducted very carefully to ensure the success of AHSCT.¹⁹

If patients are unresponsive to various medical therapies, they would be considered a potential candidate for LTx.¹¹ However, if other organs are involved, this possibility is limited. This option is often a last resort if the disease has progressed too far. There are a few overlapping phases and various screenings required in order for the patient to prepare for LTx.²¹ The first step requires transplant referral, then the transplant center will follow up with an evaluation period.²¹ As soon as the patient is accepted, the transplant team will actively list the patient; throughout this process their disease progression consistently managed by ILD specialists.²¹ Common risk factors post-surgery include advanced age, weight status, and the use of immunosuppressants.²¹ Recently, researchers found a 70% survival rate for patients with SSc-ILD 5 years post-surgery.²² After a successful LTx, patients will have a significantly improved QOL, however, they will need to have recurrent check-ups to identify any comorbidities.²¹

Immunomodulatory agent treatments

The most common conservative treatment route for advanced SSc-ILD includes the following immunomodulatory medications: cyclophosphamide (CYC) and mycophenolate mofetil (MMF).¹⁹ They are both cytotoxic (toxic to cells) and are considered to be disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARD).¹⁹ DMARDs are a class of suppressive immunomodulatory drugs designed to treat various inflammatory arthritides such as rheumatoid arthritis.^{19,23} Immunomodulators are drugs that change a patient's immune system to combat a certain illness; either stimulating or suppressing the immune system.²⁴ These drugs are more commonly used to treat cancer patients to aid other treatments.²⁴

Historically, CYC is commonly used to treat SSc-ILD and has demonstrated preservation of pulmonary function.²⁵ It has been administered as either intravenous (IV) pulses or orally.²⁵ However, it can be too toxic for patients and cause a multitude of side effects, such as bone marrow suppression, thus limiting the duration of treatment.^{25,26} Recently, there has been a shift towards the administration of MMF because it is safer than CYC in terms of its toxicity.¹⁴ MMF is an immunosuppressant most often used in combination with other medications for patients receiving organ transplants.²⁷ Various clinical trials have shown improved FVC and dyspnea measures.¹⁴ In recent trials, clinicians prescribed MMF, resulting in similar outcomes to CYC without producing significant toxicity levels or fertility concerns commonly associated with CYC.¹⁹

Biologic drug treatments

Another class of drugs recently used to treat SSc-ILD are biologic DMARDs. Biologic drugs are laboratory produced proteins that target pathways of the immune response, specifically for inflammation.²⁸ Drugs such as rituximab (RTX) and tocilizumab (TCZ) have been used as

part of an earlier start in the treatment of SSc-ILD. If the ILD is just beginning to develop, it might be better to use this alternative rather than the harsher cytotoxic therapies.¹⁴ Various studies of these treatments have demonstrated a decrease in lung function decline.¹⁴

RTX is a type of chimeric monoclonal antibody, which is a singular antibody produced from a non-human organism. It targets a specific type of CD20, a class of transmembrane protein located on B cells.¹⁹ Recently, researchers report improved outcomes regarding FVC and DLCO.¹⁹ TCZ is an anti-IL6 receptor monoclonal antibody that helps reduce inflammation and thus improve the symptoms of SSc-ILD.¹⁹ Interleukin-6 (IL6) is a cytokine that induces the expression of proteins responsible for acute inflammation.²⁹ Due to the numerous outcomes associated with significant improvement, TCZ has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as a form of treatment for SSc-ILD.¹⁹ TCZ is being used earlier to manage SSc-ILD at its beginning stages rather than waiting for enough progression to begin DMARDs.¹⁹

Anti-fibrotic treatments

Lung fibrosis is the irreversible build-up of scar tissue within the lungs and thus antifibrotics are designed to attenuate fibrosis. Progressive fibrosis of the lung's interstitial tissue leads to mechanical stiffness which will negatively impact lung function.¹² Drug treatments cannot reverse the effects of fibrosis nor completely halt the process, however they may reduce the rate of decline in lung function.¹² The main anti-fibrotics currently being studied and administered to patients with SSc-ILD are pirfenidone (PFD) and nintedanib (NIN).¹⁹ Both drugs have been used to treat idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) which has clinical and pathological overlap with SSc-ILD.³⁰ PFD is prescribed as an oral medication but in recent randomized control trials (RCTs) there wasn't a significant reduction in DLCO decline in comparison to the control group.³⁰ There are more studies underway to combine MMF and PFD to examine the

efficacy on the primary endpoint difference rate in FVC.¹⁹ On the other hand, NIN has more promising evidence to support its efficacy as a treatment for SSc-ILD.

Nintedanib

NIN is a tyrosine kinase inhibitor that competitively binds to adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-binding pockets of certain receptors in order to prevent the release of specific growth factors that contribute to lung fibrosis.¹⁹ Tyrosine kinase is an enzyme whose role is to transfer a phosphate group from ATP to tyrosine residues of certain proteins within a cell.³¹ It was first approved by the FDA to treat IPF in 2014, and was recently been approved in 2019 for SSc-ILD.¹⁹ Within IPF, the tyrosine kinases will activate cell-signaling pathways that cause the pathogenesis of IPF. After a large, randomized, double-blind, and placebo-controlled study in patients with IPF, researchers found NIN "significantly reduced the rate of decline in FVC" over the span of 52 weeks.³² Even though IPF and SSc-ILD have distinct triggers, their pathophysiological processes both result in the build-up of scar tissue.³³

Another reason for the use of NIN to treat SSc-ILD is because various animal models with aspects of SSc-ILD in which NIN was used, demonstrated antifibrotic effects.³³ Recently, in a large-scale, randomized, double-blinded trial, which was placebo-controlled, researchers investigated the effectiveness and safety profile of NIN in human patients with SSc-ILD.¹² Investigators administered 150 mg of NIN or a placebo orally twice daily.³³ The most common adverse effects were diarrhea (75.7% from NIN group), nausea (31.6%), and vomiting (24.7%).³³ As previously mentioned, the best method to determine the disease's progression and indications of reduced life expectancy is the decline in FVC.³² At the primary end-point of the trial (52 weeks) patients taking NIN (52.4 ml) had a smaller annual rate of decline of FVC than those receiving the placebo (93.3 ml) within a 95% confidence interval and a p-value of 0.04.³³ NIN's effectiveness is still being studied and more trials are underway to evaluate prognosis in SSc-ILD patients.

Research question and methods

This paper is a literature review about scleroderma, SSc-ILD, and the recently approved drug treatment nintedanib. The question I answered throughout my research was: how effective is NIN as a treatment for patients with SSc-ILD? I was inspired to write about this disease from personal experience regarding how complicated and confusing diffuse scleroderma can be even with limited medical knowledge. My goal is to help highlight and inform others about scleroderma, a complicated and not well-known disease, and explain why nintedanib is important to improving the prognosis of ILD. Additionally, it is critical to condense the available literature to potentially help guide researchers and health care professionals recommending treatments to patients with SSc-ILD.

I conducted six steps for my literature review based on the handbook of eHealth Evaluation: 1) forming the research question (using the PICO method), 2) searching the existing literature, 3) screening papers for inclusion and exclusion, 4) determining the qualities of the main studies, 5) extracting data from those papers, and 6) analysis of the data.³⁴ Each letter in PICO stands for a different part of the research question: patient or problem (P), intervention (I), comparison (C), and outcome (O).³⁵ The existing literature was hand-searched using the search terms: "nintedanib" and "interstitial lung disease" and "scleroderma" within the database PubMed. To define various terms, reputable sources such as Cleveland Clinic were handsearched as well.

The inclusion criteria for the selected studies included articles on PubMed that are trial based on NIN. The terms "nintedanib" and "lung disease" and "scleroderma" were used to find

NIN trials. Many of the remaining studies were subset analyses from the findings of Distler et al.³³ and thus my exclusion criteria included the following keyword: SENSCIS. This was the previously mentioned large randomized double-blind trial which included patients with ILD associated with systemic sclerosis.³³ From those articles, I excluded papers of patients with sine scleroderma and limited scleroderma, as well as investigations focusing a drug-to-drug interaction or antibodies.

Results

Study Selection

In total, three studies met inclusion criteria: a global RCT³⁷, a retrospective cohort study³⁸, and a case report³⁹ and were published after the global success of the Efficacy and Safety of Nintedanib in Systemic Sclerosis (SENSCIS) trial by Distler et al.³³. These authors' research facilitated the previously mentioned FDA approval in 2019 and inspired further research regarding NIN's efficacy and safety in a clinical setting. This is the first formative study with substantial results and associated with the largest sample in comparison to the selected studies. Therefore, it will be used as a baseline to compare the selected studies.

A subgroup analysis of Flaherty et al.'s³⁶ larger INBUILD trial, the same type of global study as the SENSCIS trial, was published by Matteson et al.³⁷ in 2022 and focused on using NIN with patients that had ILD due to an autoimmune disease such as scleroderma. Approximately 23% of these patients had SSc-ILD, were diagnosed with diffuse scleroderma for an average of 4 years and were mostly older females in both the NIN and placebo groups. In an Italian multicenter cohort study published by Campochiaro et al.³⁸ in 2023, researchers prescribed each patient NIN and retrospectively analyzed their results while maintaining any previous immunosuppressive treatments. Their patients held an older female majority; however, their average diffuse scleroderma duration was 8.8 years. Each of these studies were associated with significant findings as well as accompanying adverse effects. The final selected article was a case report by Nishino et al.³⁹ in 2021 regarding a 73-year-old woman with systemic scleroderma and pulmonary fibrosis, one of the key symptoms of ILD. This patient was given NIN for 8 months and her improvement analyzed from chest computed tomography (CT) scans.³⁹

Forced vital capacity

In each of the cohort studies investigators measured forced vital capacity (FVC) to determine NIN's effectiveness in slowing down fibrosis within patients with SSc-ILD. The yearly rate of decline in FVC (ml/year) was measured for the NIN and placebo groups in both the SENSCIS trial and Matteson et al. studies. The latter study group found the data significantly favored NIN when compared to the placebo.³⁷ Additionally, autoimmune disease-related ILD patients had a reduced yearly rate of decline for NIN (-75.9 ml/year) in comparison to the placebo (-178.6 ml/year).³⁷ Campochiaro et al.³⁸ measured the percent predicted FVC (%pFVC) 12 months before NIN introduction (baseline), as well as 6 months and 12 months after NIN introduction. Approximately 17% of patients with a UIP pattern in their HRCT scans had a significant decline in %pFVC from 55% to 59% at six months.³⁸ At baseline 60% of patients had a significant decline in %pFVC whereas 44% of patients had a stabilized %pFVC from 64% to 62% 12 months after NIN introduction.³⁸ While these results are promising, there were other important variables reported for the majority of these studies.

Secondary factors

The SENSCIS researchers and Campochiaro et al. evaluated skin thickness using the modified Rodnan skin score (mRSS), which is gives a score ranging from 0-3 (0 is no skin

thickening and 3 is severe skin thickening), and reported no significant mRSS change compared to baseline.^{7,33,38} Within the SENSCIS trial, researchers analyzed various secondary endpoints associated with the St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ), a self-completed questionnaire about the patient's perceived QOL that specializes in respiratory diseases, and found a minimal difference from baseline.^{33,40} Campochairo et al. additionally identified the percentage of patients with lung progression, percent predicted total lung capacity (%pTLC), and percent predicted DLCO (%pDLCO).³⁸ They reported 60% of patients had significant lung progression 12 months prior to using NIN but it lowered to 17.5% 12 months after NIN introduction.³⁸ At six months, both %pTLC (65% to 62%) and %pDLCO (42% to 43%) stabilized from baseline.³⁸ At 12 months, there was a stabilization of %pTLC (64% to 61%) but not of %pDLCO, which significantly declined from 37% to 34%.³⁸ Campochiaro et al. also analyzed the results of patients using NIN in combination with other immunosuppressants (RTX, TCZ, or MMF with either RTX/TCZ) however, none of these patients had significant changes in their lung function tests at either follow up.³⁸ Overall, the data across the studies highlights NIN's effectiveness in diminishing lung progression for SSc-ILD.

There is preliminary evidence pointing to NIN being an important factor in the lung's attenuation from the earlier stages of ILD. Nishino et al.³⁹ reported their patient had come into the clinic with SSc-interstitial pneumonia with signs of dyspnea. Their initial CT scan included ground-glass opacities, areas within the lung that are attenuated based on bronchial and vascular markings, within the lower lobes of her lungs. Therefore, they initially treated her with prednisolone (corticosteroid) and tacrolimus (immunosuppressant).^{39,41} After a follow-up CT scan, they noticed an expansion of ground-glass opacities and changed the treatment to NIN for 8 months.³⁹ Within the final CT scan, these researchers reported the ground-glass opacities had

regressed and the patient had decreased dyspnea.³⁹ The results are promising, however further research is needed to determine NIN's effectiveness against interstitial pneumonia and aid in ground-glass opacity regressions.

Adverse effects

Although NIN has produced promising results, it is also important to evaluate its safety by investigating associated adverse effects (AE). Across all three studies, the key adverse effects were related to the digestive system, specifically along the GI tract. Matteson et al.³⁷ reported that 63.4% of the NIN group and 27.3% of the placebo group experienced diarrhea. This was the most frequent AE, causing discontinuation of the trial for 17.1% of patients in the NIN group and 10.2% of patients in the placebo group.³⁷ The most common adverse effect for the SENSCIS trial was diarrhea as well.³³ This combination of adverse effects led to the discontinuation of 16% of patients in the NIN group and 8.7% of the placebo group.³³ Campochiaro et al.³⁸ reported 29% of patients experienced diarrhea and seven patients had an observable liver toxicity. Twenty-eight percent of patients required a 33% dosage reduction of NIN and 10% of patients discontinued treatment.³⁸

In advanced stages of diffuse scleroderma, mortality can occur despite rigorous treatment. Over the course of Matteson et al.'s study, death occurred in 9.8% of participants in the NIN group and 12.5% of participants in the placebo group.³⁷ Within the SENSCIS trial death occurred in 3.5% of NIN group and 3.1% of the placebo group; both groups experiencing a mixture of cardiovascular and respiratory related causes.³³ During Campochiaro et al.'s study, four patients pass away within 4-14 months with a median time of 10 months.³⁸ It is important to reiterate the overall negative impact of diffuse scleroderma throughout the body; their heart, kidneys, and GI tract could be affected along with their lungs. Due to the severity of SSc-ILD, it

is highly recommended to start their treatment as soon as possible once they are diagnosed with ILD.

Discussion

Throughout all these studies there is significant evidence that NIN helps reduce the progression of SSc-ILD. The scope of the SENSCIS study produced enough data for further subset analyzes regarding the effectiveness of NIN by other researchers. All the selected studies illustrated how lung progression is significantly diminished after using NIN for one year in comparison to the placebo. For patients with SSc-ILD, diminishing lung progression is equivalent to extending their life span and the improvement of their QOL as it becomes easier to breathe. Producing drastic changes within patients that have had the disease for years, one can wonder how much NIN could help them at the earlier stages of SSc-ILD. There is preliminary evidence that NIN can aid in the regression of ground-glass opacities that are caused by a symptom of ILD, interstitial pneumonia.³⁹ Although these results are clinically promising, there are still gaps in knowledge related to effective treatments for SSc-ILD that need to be answered with further research.

Currently, there is a lack of US studies available with respect to NIN being an effective treatment for SSc-ILD. Only Distler et al.³³ and Matteson et al.³⁷ included US subjects within their global investigations. Additionally, diversity throughout all the studies is essential to better understand how SSc-ILD can be effectively managed across different persons. Notably, there should be data to compare different population demographics to each other. As previously mentioned, African Americans and Native Americans are at greater risk than other populations for more severe forms of scleroderma.¹ Yet Matteson et al. only had 5 participants from either demographic group in their study which inhibits further analysis.³⁷ Future researchers should

consider studies within the US that include more at-risk populations at the forefront of their analysis to determine how beneficial NIN is for them.

There are many routes future researchers could take to further investigate NIN. A point of interest is the effectiveness of NIN when used along with other immunosuppressants. Campochiaro et al.³⁸ dedicated a portion of their study to this matter but were without significant findings. Creating more trials that compare NIN alone to NIN with another immunosuppressant such as RTX will help inform clinicians of NIN's compatibility with other treatments. On the other hand, researchers could also compare the effectiveness of NIN to TCZ which is the other FDA approved treatment for SSc-ILD.¹⁹ If NIN is an antifibrotic and TCZ is a biologic immunosuppressant, could there be a better mechanism that should be treated for patients with SSc-ILD?

One of the main reasons that patients discontinue treatments in general including and the use of NIN are associated adverse effects. Patients with SSc-ILD already undergo multiple treatments for symptoms outside of ILD and can be more susceptible to adverse effects.¹ The most common adverse effects were related to the GI tract and involved nausea and diarrhea. Keeping this in mind, it is important to listen to a patient's discomfort and change the dosage when possible. Determination of a minimal effective dose could inform clinicians and potentially reduce AEs in patients. If patients discontinue treatment, ILD will most likely progress at a faster rate and decrease their lifespan. Campochiaro et al.³⁸ explained they would lower the dosage if the patient's adverse effects persisted and only 10% of patients completely discontinue treatment in comparison both Distler et al.'s³³ (16%) and Matteson et al.'s³⁷ (17.1%) NIN groups. In general, medical professionals should keep the wellbeing of their patients in mind which includes having consistent conversations with them to limit adverse effects.

This literature review is associated with several limitations. These include available published data, time, and person-power. While initially inspired by the promising results associated with the use of NIN through the SENSCIS study, I anticipated there would be more follow-up studies which would further explain the effect of treatments for SSc-ILD globally and in the US. However, to-date, the available findings are limited to 3 cohort studies with limited US and demographic representation. It is possible the available data will increase in the near future, due to approval of NIN within the US by the FDA. Additionally, based upon the potential scope of this project and associated timelines, there was a limited amount of time to collect and analyze potential articles for this review. As a literature review by a primary investigator, this project addresses a realistic approach in addressing NIN as a viable treatment for SSc-ILD, even though the exclusion criteria were increased to create a reasonable effort associated with this question. However, a more robust approach for synthesizing the literature could be more complete if conducted through a systematic review or meta-analysis and accompanied with a larger number of personnel to meet demands of the effort required for analyzing the highest level of evidence. Importantly, additional databases such as Web of Science or Medline could have been used to increase the scope of available studies, but PubMed was the only database utilized for this literature review. Lastly, the only chosen studies were either published or translated in English which may have limited the number of articles included in this review.

Conclusion

Scleroderma, or systemic sclerosis, is an autoimmune disease group that shares skin hardening as a common symptom. Systemic diffuse scleroderma is a subtype in which the disease begins affecting internal organs such as the heart and kidneys. Once the lungs are affected the patient will develop interstitial lung disease, a life-threatening condition that results

in the progression of inflammation and the irreversible fibrosis of interstitial lung tissue. There are several treatments for SSc-ILD depending on the associated mechanism of progressive decline in lung function, but the more recently approved treatment antifibrotic NIN has shown promising results. While future investigations should increase the diversity of the demographics of patients to further our understanding of population specific outcomes, NIN is associated with diminished lung progression which can extend the lifespan and improve quality of life of patients with systemic sclerosis and interstitial lung disease.

References

- 1. Shah AA, Wigley FM. My Approach to the Treatment of Scleroderma. *Mayo Clin Proc Mayo Clin*. 2013;88(4):377-393. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2013.01.018
- Gelber AC, Manno RL, Shah AA, et al. Race and Association With Disease Manifestations and Mortality in Scleroderma. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2013;92(4):191-205. doi:10.1097/MD.0b013e31829be125
- Stock CJW, De Lauretis A, Visca D, et al. Defining genetic risk factors for scleroderma-associated interstitial lung disease : IRF5 and STAT4 gene variants are associated with scleroderma while STAT4 is protective against scleroderma-associated interstitial lung disease. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2020;39(4):1173-1179. doi:10.1007/s10067-019-04922-6
- 4. Rosendahl AH, Schönborn K, Krieg T. Pathophysiology of systemic sclerosis (scleroderma). *Kaohsiung J Med Sci.* 2022;38(3):187-195. doi:10.1002/kjm2.12505
- Rongioletti F, Ferreli C, Atzori L, Bottoni U, Soda G. Scleroderma with an update about clinicopathological correlation. *G Ital Dermatol Venereol*. Published online April 2018. doi:10.23736/S0392-0488.18.05922-9
- 6. Bielsa Marsol I. Update on the Classification and Treatment of Localized Scleroderma. *Actas Dermo-Sifiliográficas*. 2013;104(8):654-666. doi:10.1016/j.adengl.2012.10.012
- 7. Adigun R, Goyal A, Hariz A. Systemic Sclerosis. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2022. Accessed March 20, 2023. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK430875/
- 8. Haque A, Hughes M. Raynaud's phenomenon. *Clin Med.* 2020;20(6):580-587. doi:10.7861/clinmed.2020-0754
- 9. Nie LY, Wang XD, Zhang T, Xue J. Cardiac complications in systemic sclerosis: early diagnosis and treatment. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. 2019;132(23):2865-2871. doi:10.1097/CM9.00000000000535
- 10. Bose N, Chiesa-Vottero A, Chatterjee S. Scleroderma renal crisis. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. 2015;44(6):687-694. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2014.12.001
- Cappelli S, Randone SB, Camiciottoli G, Paulis AD, Guiducci S, Matucci-Cerinic M. Interstitial lung disease in systemic sclerosis: where do we stand? *Eur Respir Rev.* 2015;24(137):411-419. doi:10.1183/16000617.00002915
- 12. Kafle S, Thapa Magar M, Patel P, Poudel A, Cancarevic I. Systemic Sclerosis Associated Interstitial Lung Disease and Nintedanib: A Rare Disease and a Promising Drug. *Cureus*. Published online July 15, 2021. doi:10.7759/cureus.16404
- Distler O, Assassi S, Cottin V, et al. Predictors of progression in systemic sclerosis patients with interstitial lung disease. *Eur Respir J.* 2020;55(5):1902026. doi:10.1183/13993003.02026-2019

- Roofeh D, Jaafar S, Vummidi D, Khanna D. Management of Systemic Sclerosis-Associated Interstitial Lung Disease. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2019;31(3):241-249. doi:10.1097/BOR.00000000000592
- 15. Nonspecific Interstitial Pneumonia (NSIP): What is it, Causes and Treatment. Cleveland Clinic. Accessed March 5, 2023. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/diseases/14804-nonspecificinterstitial-pneumonia-nsip
- 16. Kadoch MA, Cham MD, Beasley MB, et al. Idiopathic interstitial pneumonias: a radiologypathology correlation based on the revised 2013 American Thoracic Society-European Respiratory Society classification system. *Curr Probl Diagn Radiol*. 2015;44(1):15-25. doi:10.1067/j.cpradiol.2014.07.005
- 17. Association AL. Lung Capacity and Aging. Accessed February 16, 2023. https://www.lung.org/lung-health-diseases/how-lungs-work/lung-capacity-and-aging
- Modi P, Cascella M. Diffusing Capacity Of The Lungs For Carbon Monoxide. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2022. Accessed February 16, 2023. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK556149/
- 19. Roofeh D, Lescoat A, Khanna D. Treatment for Systemic Sclerosis-Associated Interstitial Lung Disease. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2021;33(3):240-248. doi:10.1097/BOR.000000000000795
- 20. Del Papa N, Pignataro F, Zaccara E, Maglione W, Minniti A. Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation for Treatment of Systemic Sclerosis. *Front Immunol*. 2018;9:2390. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02390
- 21. Kapnadak SG, Raghu G. Lung transplantation for interstitial lung disease. *Eur Respir Rev.* 2021;30(161):210017. doi:10.1183/16000617.0017-2021
- 22. Miele CH, Schwab K, Saggar R, et al. Lung Transplant Outcomes in Systemic Sclerosis with Significant Esophageal Dysfunction. A Comprehensive Single-Center Experience. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* 2016;13(6):793-802. doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201512-806OC
- 23. Benjamin O, Goyal A, Lappin SL. Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs (DMARD). In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2022. Accessed March 5, 2023. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK507863/
- 24. Immunotherapy: Side Effects, Risks & Benefits. Cleveland Clinic. Accessed March 5, 2023. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/articles/21096-immunotherapy-side-effects
- 25. Vonk MC, Smith V, Sfikakis PP, Cutolo M, del Galdo F, Seibold JR. Pharmacological treatments for SSc-ILD: Systematic review and critical appraisal of the evidence. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2021;20(12):102978. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2021.102978
- 26. Barnes H, Holland AE, Westall GP, Goh NS, Glaspole IN. Cyclophosphamide for connective tissue disease–associated interstitial lung disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2018;2018(1):CD010908. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010908.pub2

- 27. Mycophenolate Mofetil (Oral Route) Description and Brand Names Mayo Clinic. Accessed March 2, 2023. https://www.mayoclinic.org/drugs-supplements/mycophenolate-mofetil-oralroute/description/drg-20073191
- 28. Research C for BE and. What Are "Biologics" Questions and Answers. FDA. Published online February 28, 2019. Accessed March 2, 2023. https://www.fda.gov/about-fda/center-biologicsevaluation-and-research-cber/what-are-biologics-questions-and-answers
- 29. Uciechowski P, Dempke WCM. Interleukin-6: A Masterplayer in the Cytokine Network. *Oncology*. 2020;98(3):131-137. doi:10.1159/000505099
- 30. Erre GL, Sebastiani M, Fenu MA, et al. Efficacy, Safety, and Tolerability of Treatments for Systemic Sclerosis-Related Interstitial Lung Disease: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis. J Clin Med. 2020;9(8):2560. doi:10.3390/jcm9082560
- 31. Hubbard SR, Till JH. Protein tyrosine kinase structure and function. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 2000;69:373-398. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.69.1.373
- 32. Richeldi L, du Bois RM, Raghu G, et al. Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *N Engl J Med.* 2014;370(22):2071-2082. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1402584
- 33. Distler O, Highland KB, Gahlemann M, et al. Nintedanib for Systemic Sclerosis–Associated Interstitial Lung Disease. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(26):2518-2528. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1903076
- 34. Paré G, Kitsiou S. *Chapter 9 Methods for Literature Reviews*. University of Victoria; 2017. Accessed March 5, 2023. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK481583/
- 35. Cantrell S. LibGuides: Evidence-Based Practice: PICO. Accessed May 10, 2023. https://guides.mclibrary.duke.edu/ebm/pico
- 36. Flaherty KR, Wells AU, Cottin V, et al. Nintedanib in Progressive Fibrosing Interstitial Lung Diseases. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(18):1718-1727. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1908681
- 37. Matteson EL, Kelly C, Distler JHW, et al. Nintedanib in Patients With Autoimmune Disease– Related Progressive Fibrosing Interstitial Lung Diseases: Subgroup Analysis of the INBUILD Trial. Arthritis Rheumatol Hoboken Nj. 2022;74(6):1039-1047. doi:10.1002/art.42075
- 38. Campochiaro C, De Luca G, Lazzaroni MG, et al. Real-life efficacy and safety of nintedanib in systemic sclerosis-interstitial lung disease: data from an Italian multicentre study. *RMD Open*. 2023;9(1):e002850. doi:10.1136/rmdopen-2022-002850
- Nishino K, Sasatani Y, Ohara G, Kagohashi K, Satoh H. Nintedanib-mediated improvement in CT imaging in pulmonary fibrosis associated with systemic scleroderma. *Adv Respir Med.* 2021;89(5):528-531. doi:10.5603/ARM.a2021.0072
- 40. Jones PW, Quirk FH, Baveystock CM. The St George's Respiratory Questionnaire. *Respir Med.* 1991;85 Suppl B:25-31; discussion 33-37. doi:10.1016/s0954-6111(06)80166-6

41. Amini B. Ground-glass opacification | Radiology Reference Article | Radiopaedia.org. Radiopaedia. doi:10.53347/rID-1404